การตรวจวัดไอออนโลหะบางชนิดด้วยตาเปล่าโดยใช้แอมเบอร์ไลต์เอกซ์เอดี-7 เกลือบด้วย 1-(2-ไพริดิลเอโซ)-2-แนฟทอล

นางสาววาเลนไทน์ เจือสกุล

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเคมี ภาควิชาเคมี คณะวิทยาศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

ปีการศึกษา 2555

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทิยานฟันธ์ตั้งแต่บการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR)

เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository(CUIR)

are the thesis authors' files submitted through the Graduate School.

NAKED-EYE DETECTION OF SOME METAL IONS USING AMBERLITE XAD-7 COATED WITH 1-(2-PYRIDYLAZO)-2-NAPHTHOL

Miss Valentine Juasakul

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Chemistry Department of Chemistry Faculty of Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2012 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	NAKED-EYE DETECTION OF SOME METAL IONS USING
	AMBERLITE XAD-7 COATED WITH 1-(2-PYRIDYLAZO)-2-
	NAPHTHOL
Ву	Miss Valentine Juasakul
Field of Study	Chemistry
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Wanlapa Aeungmaitrepirom, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

.....Dean of the Faculty of Science (Professor Supot Hannongbua, Dr.rer.nat.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

(Assistant Professor Warinthorn Chavasiri, Ph.D.)

......Thesis Advisor

(Assistant Professor Wanlapa Aeungmaitrepirom, Ph.D.)

.....Examiner

(Assistant Professor Apichat Imyim, Ph.D.)

......External Examiner

(Withawat Mingvanish, Ph.D.)

วาเลนไทน์ เจือสกุล : การตรวจวัดไอออนโลหะบางชนิดด้วยตาเปล่าโดยใช้แอมเบอร์ไลต์ เอกซ์เอดี-7 เคลือบด้วย 1-(2-ไพริดิลเอโซ)-2-แนฟทอล. (NAKED-EYE DETECTION OF SOME METAL IONS USING AMBERLITE XAD-7 COATED WITH 1-(2-PYRIDYLAZO)-2-NAPHTHOL) อ. ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ผศ.ดร.วัลภา เอื้องไมตรี ภิรมย์, 66 หน้า.

แอมเบอร์ไลต์เอกซ์เอดี-7 เกลือบด้วย 1-(2-ไพริดิลเอโซ)-2-แนฟทอล หรือ PAN ใช้เป็นเซ็นเซอร์ ของแข็งเพื่อตรวจวัดทองแดง(II) โคบอลต์(II) นิกเกิล(II) และสังกะสี(II) ด้วยตาเปล่า ศึกษาพารามิเตอร์สำหรับ การเกลือบ PAN บนแอมเบอร์ไลต์เอกซ์เอดี-7 เช่น ปริมาณของแอมเบอร์ไลต์เอกซ์เอดี-7 ความเข้มข้นของ PAN และระยะเวลาในการคนสารละลาย พิสูจน์เอกลักษณ์ของ Amberlite-PAN โดยคือาร์-ยูวี-วิซิเบิล สเปกโทรโฟโต เมตรี สังเกตการเปลี่ยนแปลงสีของ Amberlite-PAN จากสีเหลืองเป็นสีม่วง สีเขียว สีชมพู และสีส้ม เมื่อตรวจวัด ้กับทองแคง(II) โคบอลต์(II) นิกเกิล(II) และสังกะสี(II) ตามลำคับ ในระบบแบทช์พบว่าพีเอช 5 เหมาะสมที่สด ์ โดยระยะเวลาในการเปลี่ยนสีของทองแดง(II) เท่ากับ 1 นาที โคบอลต์(II) เท่ากับ 5 นาที นิกเกิล(II) เท่ากับ 20 ้นาที และสังกะสี(II) เท่ากับ 45 นาที ความเข้มข้นของ PAN ที่เหมาะสมสำหรับเคลือบ PAN บนแอมเบอร์ไลต์ เอกซ์เอดี-7 เท่ากับ 0.5 มิลลิโมลาร์ ซึ่งเหมาะสมต่อการตรวจวัดทองแดง(II) โคบอลต์(II) นิกเกิล(II) และ ้สังกะสี(II) ที่ความเข้มข้นต่ำ ขีคจำกัดการตรวจวัดด้วยตาเปล่าของทองแดง(II) โคบอลต์(II) และนิกเกิล(II) เท่ากับ 0.2 มิลลิกรัมต่อลิตร ในขณะที่ขีดจำกัดการตรวจวัดด้วยตาเปล่าของสังกะสี(II) เท่ากับ 4.0 มิลลิกรัมต่อลิตร ช่วง ้ความเข้มข้นสำหรับแถบเทียบสีมาตรฐานเท่ากับ1×10⁻⁶-1×10⁻² โมถาร์สำหรับทองแคง(II) 1×10⁻⁶-1×10⁻⁴ โมถาร์ ้สำหรับโคบอลต์(II) และนิกเกิล(II) และ 1×10⁻⁶-1×10⁻² โมลาร์สำหรับสังกะสี(II)ใช้ไทโอยูเรียเป็นเอเจนต์มาสคิง ้สำหรับทองแดง(II) และใช้โพแทสเซียมคลอไรด์เป็นเอเจนต์มาสกิงสำหรับนิกเกิล(II) นอกจากนี้ยังพบว่า Amberlite-PAN ใช้เป็นเซ็นเซอร์ของแข็งสำหรับตรวจวัดทองแดง(II) โคบอลต์(II) นิกเกิล(II) และ สังกะสี(II) ้ด้วยตาเปล่าได้อย่างน้อย 10 สัปดาห์และสามารถนำ Amberlite-PAN กลับมาใช้ซ้ำโดยใช้กรดไนตริกเข้มข้น 1 โม ิลาร์ ได้อย่างน้อยที่สุด 4 ครั้ง การตรวจวัดทองแดง(II) โคบอลต์(II) นิกเกิล(II) และสังกะสี(II) ด้วยตาเปล่าในน้ำ ้ตัวอย่างจริง โดยใช้ Amberlite-PAN ภายใต้สภาวะที่เหมาะสมที่สุดประสบความสำเร็จ การตรวจวัด โคบอลต์(II) ้นิกเกิล(II) และสังกะสี(II) ในน้ำตัวอย่างจริงที่มีทองแคง(II) อยู่ด้วยและการตรวจวัดสังกะสี(II) ในน้ำตัวอย่างจริง ที่มีนิกเกิล(II) อยู่ด้วยโดยใช้ Amberlite-PAN ร่วมกับเอเจนต์มาสคิง ทำได้ภายใต้ภาวะที่เหมาะที่สุดในการ ตรวจวัดด้วยตาเปล่า

ภาควิชา	เกมี	ถายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา <u></u>	เกมี	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก
ปีการศึกษา	2555	

5372410123: MAJOR CHEMISTRY

KEYWORD: NAKED-EYE DETECTION, 1-(2-PYRIDYLAZO)-2-NAPHTHOL VALENTINE JUASAKUL: NAKED-EYE DETECTION OF SOME METAL IONS USING AMBERLITE XAD-7 COATED WITH 1-(2-PYRIDYLAZO)-2-NAPHTHOL. ADVISOR: ASST. PROF. WANLAPA AEUNGMAITREPIROM, Ph.D., 66 pp.

Amberlite XAD-7 coated with 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol (PAN) was used as a naked-eye solid sensor for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II). Parameters for coating PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7 such as the amount of Amberlite XAD-7, the concentration of PAN and the studied. Amberlite-PAN was characterized by DR-UV-vis stirring time were spectrophotometry. The color change of Amberlite XAD-7 coated with PAN was observed from yellow to purple, green, pink and orange for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II), respectively. In batch system, the proper pH was found to be 5 with the response time of 1 min for Cu(II), 5 min for Co(II), 20 min for Ni(II) and 45 min for Zn(II). The optimum concentration of PAN for coating PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7 was 0.5 mM which was suitable to detect the lowest concentration of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II). The naked-eye detection limit of Cu(II), Co(II) and Ni(II) was found to be 0.2 mg/L while the detection limit of Zn(II) was found to be 4.0 mg/L. The concentration ranges for color calibrations were 1×10⁻⁶-1×10⁻² M for Cu(II), 1×10⁻⁶-1×10⁻⁴ M for Co(II) and Ni(II) and 1×10⁻⁶-1×10⁻² M for Zn(II). Thiourea was used as a masking agent for Cu(II) and potassium chloride was used as a masking agent for Ni(II). Moreover, the Amberlite-PAN was used as a naked-eye solid sensor for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) at least 10 weeks and can be reused by 1 M nitric acid regeneration at least 4 times. The determination of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in real water samples by naked-eye detection using Amberlite-PAN under the optimum conditions was achieved. The naked-eye determination of Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) and the naked-eye determination of Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) in real water sample by using Amberlite-PAN with masking agent under the optimum conditions were accomplished.

Department :	Chemistry	Student's Signature
Field of Study :	Chemistry	Advisor's Signature
A andomia Voor :	2012	
Academic rear.	2012	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor, Assistant Professor Dr. Wanlapa Aeungmaitrepirom, for her suggestion and encouragement during my study and research. In addition, I would also like to extend my appreciation to thesis committee: Assistant Professor Dr. Warinthorn Chavasiri, Assistant Professor Dr. Apichat Imyim and Dr. Withawat Mingvanish for their valuable comment and suggestion.

This thesis could not be completed without kindness and help from many people. I would like to thank Miss Wanwisa Janrungroatsakul, for her recommendation, help and encouragement. I would like to thank all of members in Environmental Analysis Research Unit (EARU) for their help and companionship. In addition, I would also like to thank the Thailand Research Fund (RTA5380003) and Ratchadaphiseksompoj Endowment Fund, Chulalongkorn University (GRU54-019-23-004) under Environmental Analysis Research Unit and Supramolecular Chemistry Research Unit, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University for the financial support.

Finally, thanks to my beloved family for their support, love, care, understanding and encouragement throughout my graduate study.

CONTENTS

Page

ABSTRACT (THAI)	iv
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	V
ACKNOWNLEDGEMENTS	vi
CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiv

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Statement of the problem	1
1.2 Objectives and scopes of the research	2
1.3 Benefit of the research	3

CHAPTER II THEORY AND LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 Heavy metal in the environment	4
2.2 Naked-eye detection	6
2.3 1-(2-Pyridylazo)-2-naphthol (PAN)	8
2.4 Amberlite XAD-7	11

CHAPTER III EXPERIMENTAL	13
3.1 Apparatus	13
3.2 Chemicals	13
3.3 Preparation of Amberlite-PAN	15
3.3.1 Amount of Amberlite XAD-7	15

viii

Page

3.3.2 Concentration of PAN	15
3.3.3 Stirring time	15
3.4 Preliminary study for naked-eye detection of some metal ions	16
3.5 Naked-eye detection of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II)	16
3.5.1 Method detection limit	16
3.5.2 Effect of interfering ions	16
3.6 Stability life of Amberlite-PAN	17
3.7 Reusability of Amberlite-PAN	18
3.8 Application to real samples	18

CHAPTER IV RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	20
4.1 Preparation of Amberlite-PAN	20
4.1.1 Amount of Amberlite XAD-7	20
4.1.2 Concentration of PAN	23
4.1.3 Stirring time	24
4.2 Preliminary study for naked-eye detection of some metal ions	24
4.3 Naked-eye detection of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II)	28
4.3.1 Method detection limit	28
4.3.2 Effect of interfering ions	35
4.4 Stability life of Amberlite-PAN	39
4.5 Reusability of Amberlite-PAN	39
4.6 Application to real samples	41
CHAPTER V CONCLUSIONS	57
REFERENCES	59
VITA	66

LIST OF TABLES

Tab	le	
2.1	The toxicity of copper, cobalt, nickel and zinc	
2.2	Maximum acceptable concentration of heavy metals in drinking water	
2.3	Some of colorimetric solid sensors for cations and anions	
	naked-eye detection	
2.4	Colors of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) ions with PAN in different solvents.	
2.5	Cumulative formation constants for metal complexes with PAN	
2.6	Modification of PAN with several materials for determination of various metal ions	
2.7	Modification of amberlite XAD-7 with various ligand for	
	determination of various metals	
3.1	ICP-OES operating conditions for determination of various metal ions	
	in aqueous solution	
3.2	Chemicals and reagents	
4.1	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with various metal ions in the	
	range of pH 1-7 using batch method	
4.2	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and	
	Zn(II) in function of time	
4.3	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II) at different	
	concentrations of PAN	
4.4	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Co(II) at different	
	concentrations of PAN	
4.5	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Ni(II) at different	
	concentrations of PAN	,
4.6	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Zn(II) at different	
	concentrations of PAN	,
4.7	Colors of Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II)	
	and Zn(II) ions at different concentrations of metal ions	

Table		Page
4.8	Colors of Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) complexed with Cu(II), Co(II),	
	Ni(II) and Zn(II) ions in the presence of masking agents	36
4.9	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II), Cu(II) and Co(II),	
	Cu(II) and Ni(II) and Cu(II) and Zn(II) with and without thiourea	37
4.10	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Ni(II) and Zn(II) with and	
	without potassium chloride	38
4.11	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and	
	Zn(II) with and without the regeneration with 1 M HNO ₃	40
4.12	Colors of Amberlite-PAN and regenerated Amberlite-PAN complexed	
	with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II)	41
4.13	Concentrations of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) determined by ICP-	
	OES in real water sample solutions	42
4.14	Colors calibration of Cu(II) at various concentrations	42
4.15	Colors of Amberlite-PAN-Cu at different concentrations of Cu(II)	43
4.16	Colors calibration of Co(II) at various concentrations	43
4.17	Colors of Amberlite-PAN-Co at different concentrations of Co(II)	43
4.18	Colors calibration of Ni(II) at various concentrations	44
4.19	Colors of Amberlite-PAN-Ni at different concentrations of Ni(II)	44
4.20	Colors calibration of Zn(II) at various concentrations	44
4.21	Colors of Amberlite-PAN-Zn at different concentrations of Zn(II)	45
4.22	Concentrations of Cu(II) and Co(II) determined by ICP-OES in pond	
	water sample spiked with standard solution of Cu(II) and Co(II)	46
4.23	Concentrations of Cu(II) and Ni(II) determined by ICP-OES in pond	
	water sample spiked with standard solution of Cu(II) and Ni(II)	46
4.24	Concentrations of Cu(II) and Zn(II) determined by ICP-OES in pond	
	water sample spiked with standard solution of Cu(II) and Zn(II)	46
4.25	Concentrations of Ni(II) and Zn(II) determined by ICP-OES in pond	
	water sample spiked with standard solution of Ni(II) and Zn(II)	48

Table		Page
4.26	Concentrations of Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) determined by ICP-OES	
	in pond water sample spiked with standard solution of Cu(II), Ni(II)	
	and Zn(II)	49
4.27	Concentrations of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) determined by	
	naked-eye method and ICP-OES in pond water spiked with unknown	
	samples	. 55

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	re	Page
1.1	Structures of (a) Amberlite XAD-7 and (b) PAN	3
2.1	The complex formation between metal ions and PAN	9
4.1	Colors of (a) Amberlite XAD-7 and (b) Amberlite-PAN	21
4.2	DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN in function of amount of	
	Amberlite XAD-7	22
4.3	Proposed interaction between Amberlite XAD-7 and PAN	22
4.4	DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite XAD-7 and Amberlite-PAN in	
	function of PAN concentration	23
4.5	Effect of stirring time for coating PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7	24
4.6	DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN, Amberlite-PAN-Cu,	
	Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn	26
4.7	(a) DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN with Cu(II) and (b) the	
	relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Cu(II)	32
4.8	(a) DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN with Co(II) and (b) the	
	relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Co(II)	33
4.9	(a) DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN with Ni(II) and (b) the relation	
	between f(R) values and the concentrations of Ni(II)	34
4.10	(a) DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN with Zn(II) and (b) the relation	
	between f(R) values and the concentrations of Zn(II)	35
4.11	The f(R) of Amberlite-PAN in function of time at wavelength 470 nm	39
4.12	Colors of Amberlite-PAN (a) original, (b) regenerated 1 time, (c)	
	regenerated 2 times, (d) regenerated 3 times and (e) regenerated 4 times	40
4.13	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with metal ions (a) without 1 M	
	thiourea and (b) with 1 M thiourea	47
4.14	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with metal ions (a) without 1 M	
	potassium chloride and (b) with 1 M potassium chloride	48
4.15	Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with metal ions (a) without 1 M	
	thiourea and 1 M potassium chloride and (b) with 1 M thiourea and 1 M $$	
	potassium chloride	50

Figur	e	Page
4.16	Diagram of qualitative naked-eye method	52
4.17	Colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 3, 4, 6, 9,	
	16, 18, 20, 21, 22, and 24 (a) without 1 M thiourea and (b) with 1 M	
	Thiourea	. 53
4.18	Colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 2, 5, 7, 8,	
	12, 13, 14, 15, 19, and 23 (a) without 1 M thiourea and (b) with 1 M	
	thiourea	53
4.19	Colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 1, 10, 11	
	and 17 (a) without 1 M potassium chloride and (b) with 1 M potassium	
	chloride	54
4.20	Colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 4, 5, 8, 14,	
	15, 16, 18, 19 and 24 (a) without 1 M potassium chloride and (b) with	
	1 M potassium chloride	. 54

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

рКа	Acid dissociation constant
DI	Deionized water
g	Gram
М	Molar
mg	Milligram
mg/L	Milligram per liter
mL	Milliliter
mM	Millimolar
μL	Micro liter
nd	Not detectable
nm	Nanometer
PAN	1-(2-Pyridylazo)-2-naphthol
R	Absolute reflectance of the sample
°C	Degree Celsius

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Statement of the problem

Nowadays water pollution is a major global problem requiring continuous evaluation and revision of water contamination at all levels. Heavy metal contamination in water is one of the sources of this problem. These heavy metals consequently harm human health and the natural environment; because drinking water is the most important component for health living and clean water is essential for health. Concentration of trace metals in water is often lower than the limit of detection (LOD) for some instruments. However, there are several techniques used for metal preconcentration such as liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) [1] and solid-phase extraction (SPE) [2]. These techniques have some drawback, for example, the lack of selectivity, large volume of its solvent and high interference from other species with the target analyte.

Spectrometric methods are an efficient technique for determination of metal ions in water such as inductively couple plasma atomic emission spectrometry (ICP-AES) [3] and flame atomic absorption spectrometry (FAAS) [4]. However, these techniques require expensive and complicated instrument and longer operation time interval. Naked-eye detection is a colorimetric method that allows on-site, rapid response time and real-time qualitative or semi-quantitative detection without the use of any complicated spectroscopic instruments. This method detects the color change of sorbent or solution when the ligand interacts with the target analyte [5]. Many researchers studied the naked-eye detection of metal ions in solution using new ligands. For example, Gunnlaugsson et al. [6] designed azobenzene as a chemosensor for Cu(II) detection under physiological pH conditions. The recognition of Cu(II) gave a major color change from red to yellow which was clearly visible to the naked-eye. Murthy et al. [7] reported a new chromogenic chemosensor based on thiocarboxylic acid derivatives for detection of Ni(II) in water sample. Thus, the naked-eye detections of metal ions using solid sorbents have been also reported. For example, Balaji et al. [8] studied the electrostatic interaction of 4-(2-pyridylazo) resorcinol (PAR) on mesoporous silica anchored with *N*-trimethoxysilylpropyl-*N*,*N*,*N*-tri methylammonium chloride (TMAC) for Cd(II) detection. High sensitivity and stability of the material were obtained in comparison with other methods. It was successfully used as a colorimetric optical sensor for qualitative and quantitative detection for Cd(II) at very low concentration in various samples. However, the naked-eye detection of metal ions using solid sorbents is more interesting than the naked-eye detection of solid phase. Therefore, the colors of the complexes adsorbed onto surface of the solid phase are easy to observe by naked-eye detection.

In this research, a suitable solid sorbent was modified with a commercial ligand for determination of various metal ions in solution using naked-eye method. 1-(2-Pyridylazo)-2-naphthol (PAN) was chosen as a commercial ligand because PAN can form complex with various metal ions and provide different colors of complex [9].A solid sorbent of this work was Amberlite-XAD-7 because it is white material and it is simple to modify a chelating ligand onto the surface of Amberlite XAD-7 [10].

1.2 Objectives and scopes of the research

The objectives and scopes of this research were:

1) To prepare Amberlite-PAN by coating PAN on the surface of Amberlite XAD-7 for determination of some metal ions by naked-eye method. The structures of Amberlite XAD-7 and PAN are illustrated in Fig. 1.1. Amount of Amberlite XAD-7, concentration of PAN and stirring time were optimized. Amberlite XAD-7 coated with PAN was characterized by diffuse reflectance ultraviolet visible spectrophotometry (DR-UV-vis) technique. The preliminary study for naked-eye detection of 10 metal ions e.g. Cu(II), As(III), Pb(II), Cd(II), Ni(II), Cr(III), Co(II), Mg(II), Mn(II) and Zn(II) was investigated.



Fig. 1.1 Structures of (a) Amberlite XAD-7 and (b) PAN.

2) To study the naked-eye detection of selected metal ions e.g. Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in batch system. pH of solution, response time and effect of interfering ions were optimized. Naked-eye detection limit was evaluated by observing the color change of the sorbent under the optimum conditions. Working concentration range for naked-eye calibration colors was also studied.

3) To study stability and reusability of Amberlite-PAN by naked-eye detection method.

4) To apply the proposed naked-eye detection method for qualitative and quantitative determination of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in real water samples. The concentration of metal ion in sample solution determined by naked-eye method was compared with the concentration determined by an inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometer (ICP-OES).

1.3 Benefit of the research

In this research, the new solid sensor was developed for determination of some metal ions in an aqueous solution by naked-eye method. The qualitative and semiquantitative analysis of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) by Amberlite XAD-7 coated with PAN was achieved. This proposed naked-eye method can detect Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) at low concentration level as same as ICP-OES.

CHAPTER II

THEORY AND LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Heavy metal in the environment

Trace metal ion determinations are received intensive attention because the contamination of metal ions is usually present in the environment, in particular heavy metal contamination in water. Heavy metals become toxic because they are not metabolized by the body and accumulated in the soft tissues. Table 2.1 shows the heavy metal toxicity of copper, cobalt, nickel and zinc that can damage and affect to health when these metals are taken into the body.

Matals	Toxicity		
wietais	Acute health effect	Chronic health effect	
Copper (Cu)	cause vomiting, hypotension,	damage the liver and kidney	
	hematemesis, melena, jaundice	when uptake the copper in	
	and gastrointestinal distress [11].	high level [11].	
Cobalt (Co)	cause fatigue, nausea, headache,	damage the kidney [12].	
	anxiety and irritability [12].		
Nickel (Ni)	cause skin rash, nausea, dizziness,	Nickel vapor can lead to	
	headache, weakness and chest	swelling of the brain and liver	
	pain [13].	[13].	
Zinc (Zn)	Eating large amount of zinc can	cause anemia and pancrease	
	cause stomach cramps, chills,	damage [14].	
	tachycardia, dyspnea and chest		
	pains [14].		

Table 2.1 The toxicity of copper, cobalt, nickel and zinc.

At low concentration level, heavy metals contaminating in water are a major cause to the human health and environment. The maximum acceptable concentration of some heavy metals in drinking water regulated by the Pollution Control Department of Thailand (PCD) is shown in Table 2.2 [15].

Heavy metals	Maximum acceptable concentration (mg/L)
Arsenic (As)	0.05
Barium (Ba)	1.0
Cadmium (Cd)	0.01
Copper (Cu)	1.0
Chromium (Cr)	0.05
Iron (Fe)	0.5
Lead (Pb)	0.05
Manganese (Mn)	0.5
Mercury (Hg)	0.001
Selenium (Se)	0.01
Silver (Ag)	0.05
Zinc (Zn)	5.0

 Table 2.2 Maximum acceptable concentration of heavy metals in drinking water.

The determination of heavy metals in water is very important. Spectroscopic methods such as FAAS and ICP-AES have been widely used for this propose. However, the development of novel methods for the detection of heavy metals by simple experiment and without the spectroscopic instrument is still attractive, for instance naked-eye detection method.

2.2 Naked-eye detection

Spectrometric methods were used for determination metal ions such as FAAS, graphite furnace atomic absorption spectroscopy (GFAAS), ICP-AES and mass spectrometry (MS). These techniques provide several interesting characteristics such as low detection limit, high sensitivity and selectivity. Unfortunately, these techniques have some drawbacks for instances expensive instrument, long operation time and require skilled technician of instrument. Therefore many researchers still need to develop novel methods for the detection of metal ions that provide the selectivity to the target analyte, short response time and high sensitivity. Naked-eye detection is a colorimetric method detecting the color change of solution or sorbent when the ligand interacts with the target analyte. There are many advantages of the naked-eye detection such as low cost, allow on-site, rapid response time and real-time qualitative or semi-quantitative detection without any complicated spectroscopic instruments.

The color change of naked-eye detection method depends on a reagent or ligand that interacts with the analyte. The changes of color occurred because the absorption wavelength of ligand molecule was changed when interacting with the target anlytes. The selectivity of ligand toward metal ion depends on the hard-soft acid base principle (HSAB) which was the explanation of reaction between metal ions and chelating ligand [16]. Reaction of HSAB is more favorable for hard-hard and soft-soft interactions than for a mix of hard and soft interactions. The binding ability of metal ion and ligand depends on size and change of metal ion and the nature of donor atom of ligand.

The naked-eye method using ligand or sensor molecule was studied in both solution and solid sorbent. For naked-eye detection in solution, many researchers reported the determination of chemical compounds and biomolecules. For example, Cai et al. [17] reported the visual detection of intracellular GSH using RB-functionalized with gold nanoparticles (AuNPs). Jamil et al. [18] synthesized a novel compound, 2-(2-hydroxyphenyl)-1-(phenylamino)-3-(phenylimino)guanidine (AG), for DNA detection and the color was changed from purple to orange in the solution. Vantasin et al. [19] developed the colorimetric analysis of protein content in milk based on an aggregation-induced color change of starch-stabilized AuNPs.

Furthermore, the determination of metal ions by the naked-eye detection in solution was reviewed. Gunnlaugsson et al. [6] designed a colorimetric azobenzene chemosensor for the detection of transition metal ions such as Cu(II) under physiological pH conditions. Suresh et al. [20] developed the colorimetric and ratiometric sensor by using per-6-amino-β-cyclodextrin as a supramolecular host and p-nitrophenol as a spectroscopic probe for the detection of Fe(III) and Ru(III) in water. Ruan et al. [21] developed 7-nitrobenzo-2-oxa-1,3-diazole (NBD) with methyl (S)-2-(benzyloxycarbonylamino)-6-{4-[(7-nitrobenzo-[c] [1,2,5]oxadiazol-4-ylamino) methyl]-1*H*-1,2,3-triazol-1-yl}-hexanoate bearing triazole binding site for selective recognition of Hg(II) in aqueous solution. Tavallali et al. [22] reported the determination of copper and chloride by bromopyrogallol red (BPR) with distinct visual color changes in DMSO/H₂O (9:1 v/v) and this method was applied for the determination of Cu²⁺ and Cl⁻ in water sample. Kumar et al. [23] reported a novel chromogenic thiourea based sensor 4,4'-bis-[3-(4-nitrophenyl)thiourea] diphenyl ether and 4,4'-bis-[3-(4-nitrophenyl) thiourea] diphenyl methane, for the detection of fluoride and cyanide in organic and aqueous media.

From the literature reviews, many researchers reported the determination of metal ions by the solution naked-eye method while the solid naked-eye method was infrequently reported. However, the solid naked-eye detection was more convenient and simpler method than the solution naked-eye detection. Some of colorimetric solid sensors for metal ions by naked-eye method is summarized in Table 2.3.

Analyte	Solid support Limit of detection	
Hg(II), Pb(II), Cd(II) [24]	PVC [*] anchoring chromo- ionophore molecular assemblies	0.034 (Hg(II)), 0.025 (Pb(II)), and 0.031 (Cd(II)) μM,
Hg(II) [25]	SNT-1 ^{**} grafted functional azo- coupled macrocyclic receptor	-
Hg(II) [26]	cellulose indicator paper	10 ppm
As(V) [27]	moliybdenum-loading chelating resin	$1 \times 10^{-7} M$
F ⁻ and AcO ⁻ [28]	test paper coated with reduced Schiff base	-

Table 2.3 Some of colorimetric solid sensors for cations and anions naked-eye detection.

* PVC = polyvinyl chloride ** SNT-1 = silica nanotube

2.3 1-(2-Pyridylazo)-2-naphthol (PAN)

The azo dye, 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol (PAN), is one of the chromogenic reagent used for spectrophotometric determination for several metal ions. PAN is usually soluble in organic solvent such as chloroform, amyl alcohol and carbon tetrachloride but insoluble in water [29]. It is a tridentate ligand forming stable complexes with various metal ions through the hydroxyl oxygen, pyridine nitrogen and one of the azo group nitrogen atom (Fig. 2.1) [30].



Fig. 2.1 The complex formation between metal ions and PAN.

PAN was applied in complexometric titrations as an indicator because it formed a color chelate with the metal ion. It was also used as an organic reagent for colorimetric determination or spot test. The color of PAN complexes with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in different solvents are shown in Table 2.4 [9].

 Table 2.4 Colors of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) ions with PAN in different solvents.

Solvents	Cu(II)	Co(II)	Ni(II)	Zn(II)
water	Deep red	Brownish red	Red	Bright pink
amyl alcohol	Red	Green	Red	Red
CCl ₄	Yellow	Green	Red	Red

PAN was also used as a chelating agent for the preconcentration and separation of heavy metal ions from several media such as natural water [31], waste water [32] and seawater [33]. Cumulative formation constants for metal complexes with PAN are shown in Table 2.5 [34]. Many researchers reported the determination of trace metal ions using PAN modified onto various materials. Table 2.6 shows some modification of PAN onto several materials for the determination of various metal ions.

Metal	log K ₁	log K ₂
Co(II)	> 12	-
Cu(II)	16	-
Mn(II)	8.5	16.4
Ni(II)	12.7	25.3
Tl(III)	2.29	-
Zn(II)	11.2	21.7

Table 2.5 Cumulative formation constants for metal complexes with PAN.

 Table 2.6 Modification of PAN with several materials for determination of various metal ions.

Metal	Materials
Co [32]	immobilized on SDS*-coated alumina
Ni [3]	loaded on Amberlite XAD-2
Zn [33]	modified on polymeric membrane
Pr, Nd, Sm and Y [35]	loaded on silica gel
Pb [4]	modified on microcrystalline naphthaline
Cr, Mn, Fe, Ni, Cu, Cd and Pb [36]	functionalized on Amberlite XAD-1180
Pb [37]	modified on screen-printed carbon electrode
Ce, Dy, La, Sm, Y and U [38]	sorption on C18-silica
Cd [39]	functionalized on multiwalled carbon
	nanotube
Pb [40]	silica gel coated with PAN

SDS = sodium dodecyl sulfate

From the literature reviews, the modification of PAN onto various materials for separation or preconcentration of metal ions was reported. Moreover, the modification of solid sorbent with PAN for naked-eye detection was also reported. Kongsung R.[40] studied the naked-eye detection of Pb(II) in drinking water by using silica gel coated with PAN as a solid sensor. It was found that the color of sorbent was changed from orange to pink and the naked-eye lowest concentration of Pb(II) was 0.8 mg/L. The naked-eye detection limit of Pb(II) is still higher than the maximum acceptable concentration. Then in this work, we desired to modify PAN onto new solid sorbent for determination of various metal ions in solution by solid naked-eye detection. Parameter such as naked-eye detection limit of metal ions and interfering ions was also studied.

2.4 Amberlite XAD-7

Amberlite XAD resin is widely used for preconcentration and separation of trace metal ions by aiding of chelating ligands. XAD resin shows many benefit physical properties such as porosity, high surface area, pore size distribution and chemically homogeneous non-ionic structure [41]. Amberlite XAD resin used for separation and preconcentration of various metal ions was XAD-2 [42], XAD-4 [43], XAD-7 [44] and XAD-1180 [36]. However, Amberlite XAD-7 was successful and popular use for separation and preconcentration because this resin is a polyacrylic ester polymer having hydrophilic surface and moderate polarity. The modifications of Amberlite XAD-7 with various ligands for determination of various metal ions are shown in Table 2.7.

Ligand	Metal	рН
xylenol orange [45]	Cd(II), Co(II), Cu(II),	4.5-5.0 (Cd(II)), 4.5 (Co(II)),
	Fe(III), Ni(II), Zn(II)	4.0-5.0 (Cu(II)), 4.0 (Fe(III)),
		5.0 (Ni(II)) and 5.0-7.0 (Zn(II))
trioctylphosphine oxide [46]	Fe(II)	-
dioctyl sodium	Pb(II)	
sulphosuccinate-EDTA [47]		-
<i>p</i> -xylenol blue [10]	Fe(III), Pb(III), Cr(III)	9.0
toluidine blue o [48]	Cr(VI)	3.0-4.0

Table 2.7 Modification of Amberlite XAD-7 with various ligands for determination of various metals.

From the literature reviews, most researchers reported the modification of various chelating ligands onto Amberlite XAD-7 for separation or preconcentration of metal ions. However, the determination of various metal ions using PAN modified with Amberlite XAD-7 was not found. Thus in this work, we focused on the modification of Amberlite XAD-7 with PAN for the determination of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in aqueous solution by the naked-eye method.

CHAPTER III

EXPERIMENTAL

3.1 Apparatus

The Amberlite XAD-7 coated with PAN or Amberlite-PAN was characterized by a diffuse reflectance ultraviolet visible spectrophotometer (DR-UV-vis) with a model of UV-2500 (Shimadzu).

The concentrations of various metal ions in an aqueous solution were determined by an inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometer (ICP-OES) model iCAP 6000 series (Thermo Fisher scientific). The operating conditions are listed in Table 3.1.

 Table 3.1 ICP-OES operating conditions for determination of various metal ions in aqueous solution.

Operating conditions		
Wavelength for Cu(II)	324.75	nm
Wavelength for Co(II)	228.62	nm
Wavelength for Ni(II)	221.65	nm
Wavelength for Zn(II)	213.86	nm
RF Power	1150	W
Pump rate	50	rpm
Auxiliary gas flow	0.5	L/min
Nebulizer gas flow	0.6	L/min
Coolant gas flow	12	L/min

The pH values of solutions were measured by a Metrohm pH meter model 744.

3.2 Chemicals

All chemicals and reagents were of analytical grade and listed in Table 3.2.

 Table 3.2 Chemicals and reagents

Chemicals	Supplier
1,2-(Pyridylazo)-2-naphthol (PAN)	Fluka
Acetic acid	Merck
Amberlite XAD-7	Supelco
Cadmium nitrate	Merck
Cobalt nitrate	Fisher Scientific
Copper nitrate	Merck
Chromium nitrate	Sigma-Aldrich
Disodium hydrogen orthophosphate	BDH
Ethanol	Merck
Methanol	Merck
Hydrochloric acid 37%	Merck
Glycine	Sigma-Aldrich
Lead nitrate	M&B
Magnesium nitrate	Fluka
Manganese chloride	Carlo Erba
Nickel nitrate	Merck
Nitric acid 65%	Merck
Potassium chloride	AJEX Chemicals
Sodium hydroxide	Carlo Erba
Sodium acetate anhydrous	Carlo Erba
Sodium meta-arsenite	BDH
Thiourea	Sigma-Aldrich
Zinc nitrate	QRAC
Cobalt standard solution (1000 mg/L)	BDH
Copper standard solution (1000 mg/L)	Merck
Nickel standard solution (1000 mg/L)	Merck
Zinc standard solution (1000 mg/L)	Merck

3.3 Preparation of Amberlite-PAN

In a 500 mL beaker, methanol was added to Amberlite XAD-7 and then mechanically stirred gently for 15 minutes to ensure a complete mixing. The mixture was filtered and DI water was added. The mixture was stirred for 5-10 minutes. Then the resin was filtered and dried at 80 °C until the resin was dried before use.

3.3.1 Amount of Amberlite XAD-7

In a 100 mL beaker, an amount of Amberlite XAD-7 was magnetically stirred with 20 mL of 0.5 mM PAN dissolved in ethanol at room temperature for 2 hours. The amount of Amberlite XAD-7 was varied from 1 to 4 g. The solid was filtered and dried at room temperature until the resin was dried. The coating of PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7 was examined by DR-UV-vis spectrophotometer at wavelength 470 nm. Amberlite XAD-7 coated with PAN (Amberlite-PAN) was kept in a desiccator before use.

3.3.2 Concentration of PAN

In a 100 mL beaker, an amount of Amberlite XAD-7 was magnetically stirred with 20 mL of PAN of a known concentration in ethanol at room temperature for 2 hours. The concentration of PAN was varied from 0.1-2.5 mM. The solid was filtered and dried at room temperature until the resin was dried. The coating of PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7 was examined by DR-UV-vis spectrophotometer at wavelength 470 nm. Amberlite-PAN was kept in a desiccator before use.

3.3.3 Stirring time

The optimum stirring time for coating PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7 was studied in the range of 1-5 hours. In a 100 mL beaker, 2 g of Amberlite XAD-7 was magnetically stirred with 20 mL of 0.5 mM PAN dissolved in ethanol at room temperature. Then the solid was filtered and dried at room temperature until the resin

was dried. The coating of PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7 was examined by DR-UV-vis spectrophotometer at wavelength 470 nm.

3.4 Preliminary study for naked-eye detection of some metal ions

The naked-eye detection of various metal ions, e.g. Cu(II), As(III), Pb(II), Cd(II), Ni(II), Cr(III), Co(II), Mg(II), Mn(II) and Zn(II) by Amberlite-PAN was studied by batch procedure. Amberlite-PAN (10 mg) was mixed with 1×10^{-4} M metal ions solution (200 µL) in a well plate for 1 hour. The buffer solution was used for adjusting pH in the range of 1-7 (glycine buffer for pH 1-2, acetate buffer for pH 3-5 and phosphate buffer for pH 6-7). Then the solution was removed from the sorbent using the dropper. Amberlite-PAN was dried until the resin was dried. The color of Amberlite-PAN after being contacted with various metal ions was detected by naked-eye observation.

3.5 Naked-eye detection of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II)

3.5.1 Method detection limit

The naked-eye detection limit of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) was studied by using Amberlite-PAN at the concentrations of 0.1-2.0 mM of PAN and the concentrations of metal ions were varied in a range of 1×10^{-6} - 1×10^{-4} M under the optimum pH. Amberlite-PAN (10 mg) was mixed with metal ions solution (200 µL) in a well plate. The solution was removed from the sorbent using the dropper. Amberlite-PAN was dried until the resin was dried. The color change of Amberlite-PAN was observed by naked-eye.

3.5.2 Effect of interfering ions

The naked-eye detection of Co(II), Ni(II) or Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) was unsuccessful due to the fact that the color of Cu(II)-PAN interfering the color of other complexes. The naked-eye detection of Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) was

unsuccessful due to the fact that the color of Ni(II)-PAN interfering the color of Zn(II)-PAN complex. Thus, thiourea used as a masking agent was added to a solution containing the target ions (Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II)) in the presence of Cu(II) while a masking agent as potassium chloride was added to a solution containing the target Zn(II) ion in the presence of Ni(II).

Amberlite-PAN (20 mg) was mixed with 0.5 mL of 1 M thiourea solution and 0.5 mL of 1×10^{-4} M Cu(II) and Co(II), Cu(II) and Ni(II) and Cu(II) and Zn(II) solutions in a well plate under the optimum pH for 1 hour. The solution was removed from the sorbent using the dropper. Amberlite-PAN was dried until the resin was dried. The color change of Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) was detected by naked-eye assay.

Amberlite-PAN (20 mg) was mixed with 0.5 mL of 1 M potassium chloride solution and and 0.5 mL of 1×10^{-4} M Ni(II) and Zn(II) solutions in a well plate under the optimum pH for 1 hour. The solution was removed from the sorbent using the dropper. Amberlite-PAN was dried until the resin was dried. The color change of Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) was detected by naked-eye assay.

3.6 Stability life of Amberlite-PAN

Amberlite-PAN was kept in a desiccator at room temperature before use. The stability of Amberlite-PAN was studied for 10 weeks. The colors of Amberlite-PAN with 1×10^{-4} M Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) were investigated once a week for 10 weeks. 10 mg of Amberlite-PAN was mixed with 200 µL of metal ions solution at pH 5 in a well plate. Then the mixture solution was removed from the solid phase using the dropper. Amberlite-PAN was dried until the resin was dried. The color change of Amberlite-PAN after being contacted with various metal ions was detected by naked-eye. The stability of Amberlite-PAN was examined by DR-UV-vis spectrophotometer at wavelength 470 nm.

3.7 Reusability of Amberlite-PAN

The reusability of Amberlite-PAN was studied by using this sorbent for 4 cycles. The sorbed metal ions on the surface of Amberlite-PAN (100 mg) was regenerated by 1 M HNO₃ (1 mL) and rinsed twice with DI water. The sorbent was dried until the resin was dried before observation the color of sorbent by naked-eye detection. The same manner was repeated for 4 cycles. Then metal ions were detected by used Amberlite-PAN. The colors of used Amberlite-PAN and original Amberlite-PAN with metal ions were compared by naked-eye.

3.8 Application to real samples

Real water samples in this work were pond water, Physics building water and Chamchuri drinking water. The pH value of all real water samples was measured and found to be 6-7. The pond water and Physics building water samples were filtered through a 0.45 µm cellulose membrane followed by milipore membrane filter and adjusted the pH to 3 with 65% HNO₃. Each individual sample was spiked with each individual metal ion to obtain the final concentration of 0.6, 6 and 60 mg/L for Cu(II), Co(II) and Ni(II) and 6 and 60 mg/L for Zn(II). The metal concentration of each spike solution was determined by ICP-OES. Then 0.5 mL of each spike solution was added into a glass vial containing acetate buffer pH 5. After that, 20 mg of Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) was added into the glass vial and standed for 1 hour. The solution was removed from the Amberlite-PAN using the dropper. The color of Amberlite-PAN with metal ions had been detected by naked-eye when the Amberlite-PAN was dried until the resin was dried.

The pond water was spiked with species of mixed ions (Cu(II) and Co(II), Cu(II) and Ni(II) or Cu(II) and Zn(II)). The final concentrations of each individual ion were 0.5, 5 and 20 mg/L. The concentration of each spike solution was determined by ICP-OES. Each spike solution (0.5 mL) was added into a glass vial containing acetate buffer pH 5. Thiourea (1 M, 200 μ L) was added into the glass vial. 20 mg of Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) was added into the glass vial and standed for 1 hour. After

that, the solution was removed from the Amberlite-PAN using the dropper. The color of Amberlite-PAN with metal ions had been detected by naked-eye when the Amberlite-PAN was dried until the resin was dried.

The experiment was performed in the same manner as mentioned above for pond water solution spiked with 0.5, 5 and 20 mg/L of Ni(II) and Zn(II) and 200 μ L of 1 M potassium chloride.

The experiment was performed in the same manner as mentioned above for pond water solution spiked with 0.5, 5 and 20 mg/L of Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) with 200 μ L of 1 M thiourea and 200 μ L of 1 M potassium chloride.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results and discussion in this chapter present the optimum conditions for preparation of solid phase for the naked-eye detection. Parameters e.g. amount of Amberlite XAD-7, concentration of PAN and stirring time were presented. The preliminary study for naked-eye detection of Cu(II), As(III), Pb(II), Cd(II), Ni(II), Cr(III), Co(II), Mg(II), Mn(II) and Zn(II) was studied. The effect of pH of solution, response time and effect of interfering ions to the naked-eye detection of selected metal ions in batch system was presented. Naked-eye detection limit and working concentration range for naked-eye calibration colors were also studied. Moreover, the stability and reusability of solid phase were studied. Finally, the determination of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) by naked-eye method in real water samples was presented.

4.1 Preparation of Amberlite-PAN

4.1.1 Amount of Amberlite XAD-7

Amberlite XAD-7 was chosen as a solid support for this work because it is a white material and easy to be modified by a chelating ligand onto its surface. The general modification of Amberlite XAD-7 surface was achieved either through hydrophobic interaction between aliphatic chain (methyl group) of the sorbent and the alkyl group of the chelating ligand or through polar/electrostatic forces [47].

Amberlite XAD-7 was first washed with methanol to eliminate monomeric material and inorganic impurities and followed by DI water to remove chloride-ion impurity before use [48]. The suitable ligand for coating onto Amberlite XAD-7 in this work was PAN because PAN was used as a reagent for colorimetric determination of several metal ions. After coating PAN onto the surface of Amberlite XAD-7, the sorbent obtained was called Amberlite-PAN and the observed color of solid phase changed from white to yellow as shown in Fig 4.1.



Fig 4.1 Colors of (a) Amberlite XAD-7 and (b) Amberlite-PAN.

Amberlite-PAN was characterized by a diffuse reflectance ultraviolet visible spectrophotometer (DR-UV-vis) in the range of wavelength from 200 to 800 nm. The Kubelka-Munk equation is used to describe the reflection and diffusion gradient of solid [49]. It is widely used for colorimetric matching calculation. The Kubelka-Munk equation is shown in equation (4.1)-(4.2).

$$A = -\log R \tag{4.1}$$

$$f(R) = \frac{(1-R)^2}{2R}$$
(4.2)

where A is the absorbance,

R is the absolute reflectance of the sample,

Fig 4.2 shows DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN in function of amount of Amberlite XAD-7. They show the maximum wavelength of the observation at 470 nm. This peak corresponds to the absorption of the azo group of PAN. From the results, it was found that when the amount of Amberlite XAD-7 increased, the intensity of signals at wavelength 470 nm decreased due to mole of PAN was constant while surface of Amberlite XAD-7 increased. So, mole PAN per gram of Amberlite XAD-7 decreased with increase of amount of Amberlite XAD-7.



Fig 4.2 DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN in function of amount of Amberlite XAD-7.

However, the insignificant difference of the intensity of signals between 1 to 4 g of Amberlite XAD-7 was obtained (calculated by anova method, P values > 0.05) For the further studies, 2 g of Amberlite XAD-7 was used to obtain the adequate with 20 mL of 0.5 mM PAN.

The coating of PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7 was achieved probably due to the hydrogen bonding between oxygen atom of ester group of Amberlite XAD-7 and hydrogen atom of hydroxyl group of PAN as shown in Fig 4.3



Fig 4.3 Proposed interaction between Amberlite XAD-7 and PAN.
4.1.2 Concentration of PAN

The reflectance spectra of Amberlite XAD-7 modified with different concentrations of PAN (0.1-2.5 mM) and the reflectance spectrum of Amberlite XAD-7 were compared. Fig 4.4 show that the intensity of signals increased with the increase of PAN concentration as considered at a maximum reflectance band at 470 nm. While the reflectance band at 470 nm for Amberlite XAD-7 without PAN was not observed, indicating the existence of PAN onto the surface of Amberlite XAD-7.



Fig 4.4 DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite XAD-7 and Amberlite-PAN in function of PAN concentration.

Moreover, the observed color of solid phase changed from white to yellow within three levels of color intensity: (1) Amberlite-PAN (0.1 mM), (2) Amberlite-PAN (0.5, 1.0, 1.5 mM) and Amberlite-PAN (2.0, 2.5 mM). The concentration of PAN was an important parameter affected to metal ion naked-eye detection at low concentration level. So, the effect of concentration of PAN was also presented in section 4.3.1.

4.1.3 Stirring time

The optimum stirring time for coating PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7 was studied in the range of 1-5 hours using 2 g of Amberlite XAD-7 and 20 mL of 0.5 mM PAN. The coating efficiency was considered by the signals of the reflectance spectra of Amberlite XAD-7 coated with PAN at wavelength 470 nm and the result is shown in Fig 4.5.



Fig 4.5 Effect of stirring time for coating PAN onto Amberlite XAD-7.

The insignificant difference of the f(R) values for the stirring times between 1 to 5 hours was obtained (calculated by anova method, P values > 0.05), indicating the constant existence of PAN onto the surface of Amberlite XAD-7. The stirring time of 2 hours was selected for further studies.

4.2 Preliminary study for naked-eye detection of some metal ions

The naked-eye detection in colors of Amberlite-PAN and various metal ions e.g. Cu(II), As(III), Pb(II), Cd(II), Ni(II), Cr(III), Co(II), Mg(II), Mn(II) and Zn(II) was studied. The concentration of metal ions used was 1×10^{-4} M and the sorbent was mixed with metal-ion solution in glycine buffer at pH 1-2, acetate buffer at pH 3-5 and phosphate buffer at pH 6-7. Colors of Amberlite-PAN with various metal ions after batch experiments are shown in Table 4.1.



 Table 4.1 Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with various metal ions in the range of pH 1-7 using batch method.

The color change of Amberlite-PAN and various metal ions were categorized into 3 groups. The color of Amberlite-PAN with As(III), Pb(II) and Mg(II) was not changed. The color of Amberlite-PAN with Cr(III), Mn(II) and Cd(II) was slightly changed. The color of Amberlite-PAN with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) was obviously changed to purple, green, pink and orange, respectively. This indicated that Amberlite-PAN could be used as a solid sensor for some metal ions and provided several colors.

The colors of the sorbent clearly changed with the range of pH 3-7 when Amberlite-PAN interacted with some metal ions such as Ni(II), Co(II) and Cu(II). The observed colors of Amberlite-PAN with Ni(II) at pH 3-7 were not different. It was also observed for Amberlite-PAN complexed with Co(II) and Cu(II).

In this work, acetate buffer at pH 4-5 was chosen as the pH control for further experiments because at these pH values, the colors of Amberlite-PAN and Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) were obviously changed from yellow to purple, green, pink and orange colors, respectively, while the colors of Amberlite-PAN with other metal ions were not changed or changed slightly. Therefore, Amberlite-PAN was used as a solid sensor for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) naked-eye detection. The conditions of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) naked-eye detection were optimized.

As mentioned above, the colors of Amberlite-PAN with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) were obviously changed to purple, green, pink and orange colors, respectively. The reflectance spectra of Amberlite-PAN, Amberlite-PAN-Cu, Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn were compared as illustrated in Fig 4.6.



Fig 4.6 DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN, Amberlite-PAN-Cu, Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn.

It was found that the reflectance spectrum of Amberlite-PAN differed from those of Amberlite-PAN-Cu, Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn. The new bands were found into longer wavelength which was observed at wavelength 560, 581, 567 and 552 nm for Amberlite-PAN-Cu, Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn, respectively. This indicated that the complexation between PAN and Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) occurred onto the surface of Amberlite XAD-7. It could be explained by hard soft acid base principle (HSAB). Borderline metal ions such as Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) prefer to form complexes with borderline donor atoms such as nitrogen of azo and pyridine group [16]. The complex of PAN and Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) was probably formed through the hydroxyl oxygen, pyridine nitrogen and one of the azo group nitrogen atom proposed as illustrated in Fig. 2.1 [30].

The response time of Amberlite-PAN with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) at a concentration of 1×10^{-4} M was studied under acetate buffer at pH 5 by batch method. The response time was recorded after the color of sorbent changed. The results are shown in Table 4.2.

Table 4.2Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II)in function of time.

Metal ions	Control	Time (minutes)				
Wetar Ions	Control	1	5	20	45	
Cu(II)						
Co(II)					-	
Ni(II)						
Zn(II)						

It was found that the color change of Amberlite-PAN was clearly observed within 1, 5, 20 and 45 minutes for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II), respectively.

4.3 Naked-eye detection of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II)

4.3.1 Method detection limit

The method detection limit was studied by using Amberlite-PAN at the concentrations of PAN in the range of 0.1-2.0 mM and the concentrations of metal ions were varied in a range of 1×10^{-6} - 1×10^{-4} M in acetate buffer at pH 5.

The color change of Amberlite-PAN with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) using batch experiments was investigated and the results are shown in Table 4.3-4.6, respectively.

Table 4.3 Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II) at different concentration of PAN.

Ambarlita_PAN	Control _	Cu(II)				
		1×10 ⁻⁶ M	1×10 ⁻⁵ M	1×10 ⁻⁴ M		
0.1 mM				-		
0.5 mM						
1.0 mM			6	-		
1.5 mM						
2.0 mM			-			

Ambarlita DAN	Control	Co(II)			
Ampernie-PAN	Control _	1×10 ⁻⁶ M	1×10 ⁻⁵ M	1×10 ⁻⁴ M	
0.1 mM					
0.5 mM					
1.0 mM					
1.5 mM			-	0	
2.0 mM					

Table 4.4 Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Co(II) at different concentration of PAN.

Table 4.5 Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Ni(II) at different concentrations of PAN.

Amborlito PAN	Control	Ni(II)			
Amberne-i Aiv	Control	1×10 ⁻⁶ M	1×10 ⁻⁵ M	1×10 ⁻⁴ M	
0.1 mM					
0.5 mM					
1.0 mM		-			
1.5 mM					
2.0 mM					

Amborlito PAN	Control	Zn(II)			
Ambernte-I AN		1×10 ⁻⁶ M	1×10 ⁻⁵ M	1×10 ⁻⁴ M	
0.1 mM		-			
0.5 mM					
1.0 mM					
1.5 mM					
2.0 mM					

Table 4.6 Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Zn(II) at different concentrations of PAN.

From the results, the colors of Amberlite-PAN were clearly changed when the concentration of Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) were 1×10^{-4} M while the color change of Amberlite-PAN with Co(II) was clearly observed at 1×10^{-5} - 1×10^{-4} M. However, Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) was chosen for further studies, because the observed colors of Amberlite-PAN with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) were obviously changed and gave the lowest limit of detection.

To obtain the naked-eye detection limit of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) ions by Amberlite-PAN, Amberlite XAD-7 coated with 0.5 mM PAN was used. The concentration of metal ions was varied from $1 \times 10^{-6} - 1 \times 10^{-4}$ M. The naked-eye detection limit was considered by the observed color of Amberlite-PAN with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) differed from control. The results are shown in Table 4.7.

Table 4.7 Colors of Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II)and Zn(II) ions at different concentrations of metal ions

Metal ions	Control	1×10 ⁻⁶	3×10 ⁻⁶	1×10 ⁻⁵	6×10 ⁻⁵	1×10 ⁻⁴	(M)
Cu(II)					-	-	
Co(II)					-		
Ni(II)	-				-	-	
Zn(II)		-	-				

The lowest concentrations of metal ion that cloud be detected by naked-eye assay are 3×10^{-6} M (or 0.2 mg/L) for Cu(II), Co(II) and Ni(II) and 6×10^{-5} M (or 4.0 mg/L) for Zn(II).

In addition, The reflectance spectra of Amberlite-PAN-Cu, Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn at different concentrations of metal ions were measured by DR-UV-vis spectrophotometer. The DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN-Cu at different concentrations of Cu(II) and the f(R) values at wavelength 470 and 560 nm and the relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Cu(II) are shown in Fig 4.7.



Fig. 4.7 (a) DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN with Cu(II) and (b) the relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Cu(II).

The change of f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Cu at different concentrations of Cu(II) was observed. The f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Cu at wavelength 470 nm decreased and the f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Cu at wavelength 560 nm increased with the increase of the concentrations of Cu(II). The signal of Amberlite-PAN-Cu at wavelength 560 nm was observed when the concentration of Cu(II) was 1×10^{-5} M, while the color of Amberlite-PAN-Cu observed by naked-eye was lower than 1×10^{-5} M (the naked-eye detection limit of Cu(II) = 3×10^{-6} M).

The DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN-Co at different concentrations of Co(II) and the f(R) values at wavelength 470 and 581 nm and the relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Co(II) are shown in Fig 4.8.



Fig. 4.8 (a) DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN with Co(II) and (b) the relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Co(II).

The change of f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Co at different concentrations of Co(II) was observed. The f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Co at wavelength 470 nm decreased and the f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Co at wavelength 581 nm increased with the increase of the concentrations of Co(II). The signal of Amberlite-PAN-Co at wavelength 581 nm was observed when the concentration of Co(II) was 1×10^{-5} M, while the color of Amberlite-PAN-Co observed by naked-eye was lower than 1×10^{-5} M (the naked-eye detection limit of Co(II) = 3×10^{-6} M).

The DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN-Ni at different concentrations of Ni(II) and the f(R) values at wavelength 470 and 567 nm and the relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Ni(II) are shown in Fig 4.9.



Fig. 4.9 (a) DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN with Ni(II) and (b) the relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Ni(II).

The change of f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Ni at different concentrations of Ni(II) was observed. The f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Ni at wavelength 470 nm decreased and the f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Ni at wavelength 567 nm increased with the increase of the concentrations of Ni(II). The signal of Amberlite-PAN-Ni at wavelength 567 nm was observed when the concentration of Ni(II) was 1×10^{-5} M, while the color of Amberlite-PAN-Ni observed by naked-eye was lower than 1×10^{-5} M (the naked-eye detection limit of Ni(II) = 3×10^{-6} M).

The DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN-Zn at different concentrations of Zn(II) and the f(R) values at wavelength 470 and 552 nm and the relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Zn(II) are shown in Fig 4.10.



Fig. 4.10 (a) DR-UV-vis spectra of Amberlite-PAN with Zn(II) and (b) the relation between f(R) values and the concentrations of Zn(II).

The change of f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Zn at different concentrations of Zn(II) was observed. The f(R) values of Amberlite-PAN-Zn at wavelength 470 nm decreased and the signal of Amberlite-PAN-Zn at wavelength 552 nm increased with the increase of the concentrations of Zn(II). The signal of Amberlite-PAN-Zn at wavelength 552 nm was observed when the concentration of Zn(II) was 1×10^{-5} M, while the color of Amberlite-PAN-Zn observed by naked-eye was higher than 1×10^{-5} M (the naked-eye detection limit of Zn(II) = 6×10^{-5} M).

4.3.2 Effect of interfering ions

As shown in the previous experiments, the colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) could be observed by naked-eye method under the similar conditions. The colors changed from yellow to purple, green, pink and orange for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II), respectively. Unfortunately, the naked-eye detection of Co(II), Ni(II) or Zn(II) by Amberlite-PAN in the presence of Cu(II) was unsuccessful due to the interference of the color of Amberlite-PAN-Cu with the colors of other complexes. As a results, Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) cannot be detected by Amberlite-PAN. The naked-eye detection of Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) was unsuccessful due to the fact that the color of Ni(II)-PAN interfering the color of Zn(II)-PAN complex. Therefore, the naked-eye

detection method of a metal ion in the presence of other metal ions by Amberlite-PAN was studied by using masking agent. Masking agent is a chemical reagent reacting with some species that may interfere the target analyte. It was, thus, used for protecting the target analyte from the interference [50]. In addition, the formation constant value (K_f) of masking agent and metal ion should be considered. In this work, thiourea, potassium chloride, potassium cyanide and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) were used as masking agent because they can form complex with various metal ions. The colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) ions in the presence of masking agents and without masking agents were compared. The results are present in Table 4.8.

 Table 4.8 Colors of Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) ions in the presence of masking agents.

	Cu(II)	Co(II)	Ni(II)	Zn(II)
without masking agent				
with 1 M EDTA	0			
with 1 M KCN		0		
with 1 M thiourea	0			
with 1 M KCl				

In case of EDAT, the colors of sorbent changed from purple, green, pink and orange to yellow, indicating that Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) preferred to form complex with EDTA over PAN. Therefore, EDTA could be used as a masking agent for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II).

In case of KCN, the color of only Co(II) complex changed from green to yellow, indicating that only Co(II) preferred to form complex with cyanide over PAN. Therefore, KCN could be used as a masking agent for Co(II). However, we avoided to use KCN in the further experiments because of its toxicity.

In case of thiourea, the color of only Cu(II) complex changed from violet to yellow, indicating that only Cu(II) preferred to form complex with thiourea over PAN. Therefore, thiourea could be used as a masking agent for Cu(II).

In case of KCl, the color of only Ni(II) complex changed from pink to yellow, indicating that only Ni(II) preferred to form complex with chloride over PAN. Therefore, KCl could be used as a masking agent for Ni(II).

To eliminate the interference from Cu(II), thiourea was chosen as a suitable masking agent because of its selectivity to mask only Cu(II), preferentially forming highly stable complex with only Cu(II) under the acidic condition [51]. Thiourea was added to a solution containing two types of the target ions (Co(II), Ni(II) or Zn(II)) in the presence of Cu(II). Table 4.9 demonstrates how thiourea is used to improve the selectivity of Amberlite-PAN.

Table 4.9 Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II), Cu(II) and Co(II), Cu(II)and Ni(II) and Cu(II) and Zn(II) with and without thiourea.

	Cu(II)	Cu(II)+Co(II)	Cu(II)+Ni(II)	Cu(II)+Zn(II)
without		and a second	and the second	
thiourea				
with 1 M thiourea				

From the results, it can be seen that the colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) were purple, but the color of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) with thiourea were changed to green, pink and orange which were the colors of Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn, respectively. This indicated that thiourea can form complex with Cu(II) more stable than PAN. Then,

PAN was chelated with only Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II). Thus, thiourea is successfully to use as a masking agent for Cu(II). Then, Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) can be detected by Amberlite-PAN with naked-eye method.

The naked-eye detection of Zn(II) by Amberlite-PAN in the presence of Ni(II) was unsuccessful due to the interference of the color of Amberlite-PAN-Ni with the color of Amberlite-PAN-Zn. To eliminate the interference from Ni(II), potassium chloride was added into a solution containing the target ion (Zn(II)) in the presence of Ni(II) because chloride ion can form complex with transition metal ions, called chloro complexes. Table 4.10 illustrates how potassium chloride is used to improve the selectivity of Amberlite-PAN.

 Table 4.10
 Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Ni(II) and Zn(II) with and without potassium chloride.



From the results, it can be seen that the color of Amberlite-PAN complexed Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) was changed to pink, but the color of Amberlite-PAN complexed Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) with potassium chloride was changed to orange which was the color of Amberlite-PAN-Zn. This indicated that potassium chloride can form complex with Ni(II) more stable than PAN. Then, PAN was chelated with only Zn(II) and gave orange color. Thus, potassium chloride is successfully to use as a masking agent for Ni(II). Then, Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) can be detected by Amberlite-PAN with naked-eye method.

4.4 Stability of Amberlite-PAN

Amberlite-PAN was kept in a desiccator at room temperature before use. The stability of Amberlite-PAN was studied once a week to 10 weeks by DR-UV-vis spectrophotometric technique (illustrated in Fig 4.11) and naked-eye detection of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II).

From the results, it was found that Amberlite-PAN kept at different times showed the colors of purple, green, pink and orange for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II), respectively. Moreover, the insignificant difference of the f(R) values at wavelength 470 nm was obtained (calculated by anova method, P values > 0.05). This indicated that the Amberlite-PAN can be used as a solid sensor for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) naked-eye detection at least within 10 weeks.



Fig. 4.11 The f(R) of Amberlite-PAN in function of time at wavelength 470 nm.

4.5 Reusability of Amberlite-PAN

In this work, the reagent as nitric acid was used to elute the retained metal ion on Amberlite-PAN. From the results in Table 4.11, it was found that nitric acid cannot elute Co(II) from Amberlite-PAN while Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) can be eliminated, that can observe from the disappeared colors. The colors of regenerated Amberlite-PAN were compared to that for original Amberlite-PAN, as shown in Fig 4.12.

 Table 4.11 Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II)

 with and without the regeneration with 1 M HNO3.



Fig 4.12 Colors of Amberlite-PAN (a) original, (b) regenerated 1 time, (c) regenerated 2 times, (d) regenerated 3 times and (e) regenerated 4 times.

From the results, it was found that the color of original Amberlite-PAN was similar with the color of Amberlite-PAN regenerated 1 time but the color of Amberlite-PAN regenerated more than 1 time slightly differed from original Amberlite-PAN. The color of regenerated Amberlite-PAN changed from bright yellow to deep yellow when reused in several times. Then, the colors of regenerated Amberlite-PAN and original Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) were compared as shown in Table 4.12.

	regenerated Amberlite-PAN					
	original	1 time	2 times	3 times	4 times	
without	1 mars	13	And the	-	the .	
metal ions			-	-		
Cu(II)	0	-	-	2	0	
Co(II)	-		0		6.	
Ni(II)	9	6	0	0	0	
Zn(II)	0	0	J.	-	(interest of the second	

 Table 4.12 Colors of Amberlite-PAN and regenerated Amberlite-PAN complexed with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II).

Although the color of regenerated Amberlite-PAN was slightly different from that of original Amberlite-PAN, but the colors of regenerated Amberlite-PAN with metal ions were not different from those of original Amberlite-PAN complexed with metal ions. This indicated that the Amberlite-PAN can be used as a solid sensor for the naked-eye detection of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) at least 4 times.

4.6 Application to real samples

Naked-eye determination of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) by Amberlite-PAN in real water samples was studied. In this work, real water samples were pond water (sample 1), Physics building water (sample 2) and Chamchuri drinking water (sample 3). The effect of matrix in real water sample was investigated by spiked method. Each individual water sample was spiked with each individual ion to obtain the final concentration of 0.6, 6 and 60 mg/L (or 1×10^{-5} , 1×10^{-4} and 1×10^{-3} M, respectively) for Cu(II), Co(II) and Ni(II) and 6 and 60 mg/L for Zn(II). The concentration of each individual ion was determined by ICP-OES to confirm the concentration of each individual ion in water sample solution. The concentration of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) determined by ICP-OES in sample solution are shown in Table 4.13. Comparison of the color of Amberlite-PAN-Cu, Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn with the color calibration of each individual ion by naked-eye method are shown in Table 4.14 and 4.15 for Cu(II), Table 4.16 and 4.17 for Co(II), Table 4.18 and 4.19 for Ni(II) and Table 4.20 and 4.21 for Zn(II).

 Table 4.13 Concentrations of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) determined by ICP-OES in real water sample solutions.

Sampla	Spiked		1			
Sample	(mg/L)	Unspiked	Cu(II)	Co(II)	Ni(II)	Zn(II)
	0.6	nd	0.6	0.6	0.5	-
1	6	nd	6.2	6.0	6.2	6.3
	60	nd	58.3	57.0	58.7	58.8
	0.6	nd	0.6	0.6	0.5	-
2	6	nd	6.3	6.0	6.3	6.4
	60	nd	58.0	57.1	58.7	58.3
	0.6	nd	0.6	0.6	0.7	-
3	6	nd	6.4	6.0	6.7	6.1
	60	nd	58.0	67.1	60.0	67.7

nd = not detectable

Table 4.14 Colors calibration of Cu(II) at various concentrations.

Concentration of Cu(II) (M)						
0	1×10 ⁻⁶	3×10 ⁻⁶	1×10 ⁻⁵	1×10 ⁻⁴	1×10 ⁻²	

Samula	Concentration of Cu(II) (M)						
Sample	0	1×10 ⁻⁵	1×10 ⁻⁴	1×10 ⁻³			
1	9	-	0	0			
2		-	0	0			
3	-	9	-				

Table 4.15 Colors of Amberlite-PAN-Cu at different concentrations of Cu(II).

Table 4.16 Colors calibration of Co(II) at various concentrations.



Table 4.17 Colors of Amberlite-PAN-Co at different concentrations of Co(II).

Sample	Concentration of Co(II) (M)						
	0	1×10 ⁻⁵	1×10 ⁻⁴	1×10 ⁻³			
1	9	-	-	()			
2			-				
3	-	-	-	0			



Table 4.18 Colors calibration of Ni(II) at various concentrations.

Table 4.19 Colors of Amberlite-PAN-Ni at different concentrations of Ni(II).



Table 4.20 Colors calibration of Zn(II) at various concentrations.

Concentration of Zn(II) (M)							
0 1×10 ⁻⁶ 6×10 ⁻⁵ 1×10 ⁻⁴ 1×10 ⁻³							

Sampla	Concentration of Zn(II) (M)					
Sample	0	1×10 ⁻⁴	1×10 ⁻³			
1	9					
2		9	-			
3	9		0			

Table 4.21 Colors of Amberlite-PAN-Zn at different concentrations of Zn(II).

The colors of Amberlite-PAN-Cu, Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn at different concentrations of ions in real water samples were compared with the color calibration of each individual ion by naked-eye detection. The concentration ranges for color calibrations were 1×10^{-6} - 1×10^{-2} M for Cu(II), 1×10^{-6} - 1×10^{-4} M for Co(II) and Ni(II) and 1×10^{-6} - 1×10^{-2} M for Zn(II). It was found that the obtained colors of Amberlite-PAN-Cu, Amberlite-PAN-Co, Amberlite-PAN-Ni and Amberlite-PAN-Zn in each concentration were similar to the color of calibration by naked-eye assay and the different samples gave the same color shade.

The sample 1 was spiked with the mixture ions (Cu(II) and Co(II), Cu(II) and Ni(II) or Cu(II) and Zn(II)). The final concentration of each individual ion was 0.5, 5 and 20 mg/L. The concentration of each spiked solution was determined by ICP-OES and the results are shown in Table 4.22-4.24. Then, each spiked solution was added into a glass vial containing 200 μ L of 1 M thiourea at pH 5. The colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed metal ions with and without masking agent were compared. The results are shown in Fig 4.13.

	Added (mg/L)	Found (mg/L)
	0.5	0.4
Cu(II)	5	4.5
	20	19.8
	0.5	0.5
Co(II)	5	5.2
	20	20.7

Table 4.22 Concentrations of Cu(II) and Co(II) determined by ICP-OES in pondwater sample spiked with standard solution of Cu(II) and Co(II).

Table 4.23 Concentrations of Cu(II) and Ni(II) determined by ICP-OES in pond water

 sample spiked with standard solution of Cu(II) and Ni(II).

	Added (mg/L)	Found (mg/L)
	0.5	0.4
Cu(II)	5	5.0
	20	19.0
	0.5	0.5
Ni(II)	5	5.0
	20	18.5

Table 4.24 Concentrations of Cu(II) and Zn(II) determined by ICP-OES in pondwater sample spiked with standard solution of Cu(II) and Zn(II).

	Added (mg/L)	Found (mg/L)
	0.5	0.5
Cu(II)	5	4.9
	20	19.7
	0.5	0.6
Ni(II)	5	5.6
	20	19.4





From the results, it was found that the colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) were changed into purple, but the colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) and thiourea were changed into green, pink and orange, respectively. Moreover, the colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with different concentrations of Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) were changed into the same shade color in comparison with color calibration of each individual ion except that for Amberlite-PAN-Zn at the concentration of 0.5 mg/L. Since Zn(II) can be detected by Amberlite-PAN at the lowest concentration of 4.0 mg/L. Thus, thiourea was used for masking Cu(II) when Amberlite-PAN was used for detecting Co(II). Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) in real water sample by naked-eye method.

The experiment was performed in the same manner as mentioned above for sample 1 spiked with 0.5, 5 and 20 mg/L of Ni(II) and Zn(II) and 200 μ L of 1 M potassium chloride. The concentration of each spiked solution was determined by ICP-OES and the results are shown in Table 4.25. The colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with metal ions with and without masking agent were examined. The results are shown in Fig 4.14.

-		A	Added (n	ng/L)	Fou	ind (mg/L)	
-			0.5			0.4	
	Ni(II)		5			4.5	
			20			18.9	
-			0.5			0.5	
	Zn(II)		5			5.1	
			20			18.9	
-		А	В	С	D		
(a)				-		without 1 M pota	ssium chloride
(b)		-	-	-	-	with 1 M chloride	potassium

Table 4.25 Concentrations of Ni(II) and Zn(II) determined by ICP-OES in pond water

 sample spiked with standard solution of Ni(II) and Zn(II).



The concentrations of A) Ni(II), Zn(II) = 0 mg/L, B) Ni(II), Zn(II) = 20 mg/L, C) Ni(II), Zn(II) = 5 mg/L and D) Cu(II), Zn(II) = 0.5 mg/L.

From the results, it was found that the colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) was changed into pink, but the color of Amberlite-PAN with Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) and potassium chloride was changed into orange. Moreover, the colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with different concentrations of Zn(II) were changed into the same shade color in comparison with the color calibration of Zn(II) except that of Amberlite-PAN-Zn at the concentration of 0.5 mg/L. Thus, potassium chloride was a masking agent for Ni(II) when Amberlite-PAN was used for detecting Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) in real water sample by naked-eye method.

The experiment was performed in the same manner as mentioned above for sample 1 spiked with 0.5, 5 and 20 mg/L of Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) with 200 μ L of 1 M thiourea and 200 μ L of 1 M potassium chloride. The concentration of each spiked solution was determined by ICP-OES and the results are shown in Table 4.26. The colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with metal ions with and without masking agent were examined. The results are shown in Fig 4.15.

	Added (mg/L)	Found (mg/L)
	0.5	0.5
Cu(II)	5	4.9
	20	19.9
	0.5	0.5
Ni(II)	5	4.7
	20	18.4
	0.5	0.5
Zn(II)	5	5.4
	20	18.4

Table 4.26 Concentrations of Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) determined by ICP-OES inpond water sample spiked with standard solution of Cu(II), Ni(II) andZn(II).



Fig 4.15 Colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with metal ions (a) without 1 M thiourea and 1 M potassium chloride and (b) with 1 M thiourea and 1 M potassium chloride.

The concentrations of A) Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) = 0 mg/L, B) Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) = 20 mg/L, C) Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) = 5 mg/L and D) Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) = 0.5 mg/L.

From the results, it was found that the colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) and Ni(II) was changed into purple, but the color of Amberlite-PAN complexed with Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) and Ni(II) and thiourea and potassium chloride was changed into orange. Moreover, the colors of Amberlite-PAN complexed with different concentrations of Zn(II) was changed in the same shade color in comparison with the color calibration of Zn(II) except Amberlite-PAN-Zn at the concentration of 0.5 mg/L. Thus, thiourea and potassium chloride can serve as a masking agent for Cu(II) and Ni(II), respectively when Amberlite-PAN was used for detecting Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) and Ni(II) in real water sample by naked-eye method.

The qualitative and semi-quantitative analysis of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) by this proposed method was examined. The 24 unknown sample solutions were prepared by using pond water spiked with Cu(II),Co(II),Ni(II) and Zn(II) under the condition as follows:

- The stock solutions of Cu(II),Co(II),Ni(II) and Zn(II) with known concentrations were labeled as A, B, C and D, respectively. These solutions were used as standard solution spiked into unknown samples.
- The unknown samples were prepared by spiking the standard solutions A, B, C and D in pond water as follows:
 - spike only A, B, C or D
 - spike A and B, A and C, A and D or C and D
 - spiked A, C and D
- The minimum concentration of each standard solution was 0.6 mg/L. The final volume was 10 mL.

The qualitative analysis was performed as follows by Fig 4.16. 0.5 mL of unknown sample solution and 2 drops of acetate buffer pH 5 were added into a glass vial. Then 20 mg of Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) was added into the glass vial and standed for 1 hour. If the color of Amberlite-PAN changed from yellow to purple, 200 μ L of 1 M thiourea was added into the glass vial. If the color of Amberlite-PAN changed from yellow to pink, 200 μ L of 1 M potassium chloride was added into the glass vial. After that, the solution was removed from the Amberlite-PAN using a dropper. The color of Amberlite-PAN complexed with metal ions had been observed by naked-eye after Amberlite-PAN was dried. The semi-quantitative analysis was performed by comparing the color of Amberlite-PAN in sample solution with the color calibration of Cu(II),Co(II),Ni(II) and Zn(II) and the concentrations obtained from the naked-eye method were also compared with the concentrations determined by ICP-OES.



0.5 mL of unknown sample solution

Fig 4.16 Diagram of qualitative naked-eye method.

The observed colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 3, 4, 6, 9, 16, 18, 20, 21, 22 and 24 were purple (represent in Fig 4.17(a)), indicating that all unknown samples contained Cu(II) ion. After adding 1 M thiourea, the colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions changed from purple to orange, pink and green as shown in Fig 4.17(b), indicating that all unknown samples contained more than one metal ion.



Fig 4.17 Colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 3, 4, 6, 9, 16, 18, 20, 21, 22, and 24 (a) without 1 M thiourea and (b) with 1 M thiourea.

The observed colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 2, 5, 7, 8, 12, 13, 14, 15, 19 and 23 were slightly purple (represent in Fig 4.18(a)), indicating that all unknown samples contained Cu(II) ion at very low concentration. After adding 1 M thiourea, the colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions changed from purple to orange, pink and green as shown in Fig 4.18(b), indicating that all unknown samples contained more than one metal ion.





The observed colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 1, 10, 11 and 17 were slightly pink (represent in Fig 4.19(a)), indicating that all unknown samples contained Ni(II) ion at very low concentration. After adding 1 M potassium chloride, the colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions changed from pink to orange and bright pink as shown in Fig 4.19(b), indicating that all unknown samples contained Zn(II) ion.





After added 1 M thiourea, the observed colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 4, 5, 7, 8, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19 and 24 were slightly pink and bright pink (represent in Fig 4.20(a)), indicating that all unknown samples contained Ni(II) ion. After adding 1 M potassium chloride, the colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions changed from slightly pink and bright pink to bright orange as shown in Fig 4.20(b), indicating that all unknown samples contained Zn(II) ion.



Fig 4.20 Colors of Amberlite-PAN-metal ions of unknown sample no. 4, 5, 8, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19 and 24 (a) without 1 M potassium chloride and (b) with 1 M potassium chloride.

From the qualitative naked-eye results, it was found that the unknown samples no. 1, 10, 11 and 17 contained Ni(II) and Zn(II) ions, the unknown sample no. 12, 13, 21 and 22 contained Cu(II) and Co(II) ions, the unknown sample no. 2, 3, 6, 7, 9, 20 and 23 contained Cu(II) and Zn(II) ions and the unknown sample no. 4, 5, 8, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19 and 24 contained Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) ions. The concentrations obtained from the naked-eye method of 24 unknown samples were compared with the concentrations determined by ICP-OES presented in Table 4.27.

Lulu arr	Concentration of metal ions (mg/L)								
sample		Naked-ey	e detection	n		ICP-OES			
no.	Cu(II)	Co(II)	Ni(II)	Zn(II)	Cu(II)	Co(II)	Ni(II)	Zn(II)	
1	-	-	0.6-1	6	nd	nd	0.5	7.0	
2	0.6-1	-	-	0.6-6	0.6	nd	0.5	nd	
3	6-10	-	-	0.6-6	5.8	nd	nd	0.6	
4	6-10	-	6-60	6-30	5.8	nd	5.6	6.3	
5	0.6-1	-	6-60	6-30	0.6	nd	5.6	nd	
6	6-10	-	-	6-30	5.6	nd	nd	19.7	
7	0.6-1	-	-	6-30	0.6	nd	nd	19.7	
8	0.6-1	-	6-60	6-30	0.6	nd	5.6	19.7	
9	6-10	-	-	6-30	5.6	nd	0.5	6.7	
10	-	-	0.6-1	6-30	nd	nd	0.5	19.6	
11	-	-	6-60	30-60	nd	nd	5.6	6.7	
12	0.6-1	6-20	-	-	0.6	5.7	nd	nd	
13	0.6-1	0.6-1	-	-	0.6	0.6	nd	nd	
14	0.6-1	-	0.6-1	6-30	0.6	nd	nd	6.7	
15	0.6-1	-	0.6-1	6-30	0.6	nd	nd	19.6	
16	6-10	-	6-60	6-30	5.5	nd	5.7	19.6	
17	-	-	6-60	6-30	nd	nd	5.5	19.6	
18	0.6-1	-	6-60	6-30	5.5	nd	5.5	6.7	
19	0.6-1	-	6-60	6-30	0.6	nd	5.5	6.6	
20	0.6-1	-	-	6-30	5.5	nd	0.5	6.6	
21	6-10	6-20	-	-	5.6	5.7	nd	nd	
22	6-10	0.6-1	-	-	5.6	0.6	nd	nd	
23	0.6-1	-	-	6-30	0.6	nd	nd	6.7	
24	6-10	-	6-60	6-30	5.4	nd	nd	19.5	

Table 4.27 Concentrations of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) determined by naked

 eye method and ICP-OES in pond water spiked with unknown samples.

nd = not detectable

From the results, it was found that the concentrations of each individual ion detected by naked-eye assay were similar to the concentrations determined by ICP-OES except Ni(II) and Zn(II) at low concentration. Because at low concentration of Ni(II) and Zn(II), the color of Amberlite-PAN complex slightly changed from yellow to bright orange with the same color shade such as sample no. 2, 5, 9, 11, 14, 15, 20 and 24. Then, Amberlite-PAN cannot be detected Ni(II) and Zn(II) at low concentration. However, the concentration of the unknown sample containing different concentrations of Ni(II) and Zn(II) such as sample no. 1, 10 and 17 can be determined by Amberlite-PAN naked-eye method.

As a consequence, Amberlite-PAN (0.5 mM) can be used as a solid sensor for detecting ion of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) at the different concentrations of metal ions in real water sample by naked-eye assay.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS

A new solid sensor was developed for naked-eye detection of some metal ions in water by using Amberlite-XAD 7 coated with PAN. The preliminary results showed that Amberlite-PAN forms the complexes with Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II). Its color changed from purple to green, pink and orange, respectively. Therefore, Amberlite-PAN can serve as a solid sensor for naked-eye detection of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II). The optimum conditions for preparation of Amberlite-PAN were: the amount of Amberlite-XAD 7 = 2 g, the concentration of PAN (in ethanol) = 0.5 mM and the stirring time for coating PAN onto Amberlite-XAD 7 = 2 hours. Amberlite-PAN obtained was characterized by DR-UV-vis spectrophotometer. The maximum f(R) wavelength of Amberlite-PAN was observed at around 470 nm while the f(R) signal of Amberlite XAD-7 was not found at the same wavelength, indicating that PAN was coated onto the surface of Amberlite XAD-7.

The naked-eye detection of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) by Amberlite-PAN in batch experiment was studied under acetate buffer at pH 5. The response time between Amberlite-PAN and Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) $(1 \times 10^{-4} \text{ M})$ was clearly observed within 1 min, 5 min, 20 min and 45 min, respectively. The lowest concentration of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in solution that can be detectable the color by naked-eye assay. The results showed that the concentration of PAN which was capable to detect the lowest concentration of metal ions was 0.5 mM. The lowest concentrations detected by naked-eye were 0.2 mg/L for Cu(II), Co(II) and Ni and 4.0 mg/L for Zn(II).

An individual metal ion can be detected by Amberlite-PAN under the similar conditions. The naked-eye detection of Co(II), Ni(II) or Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) was unsuccessful due to the color of Cu(II)-PAN interfereing the color of other complexes and the naked-eye detection of Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) was

unsuccessful due to the color of Ni(II)-PAN interfering the color of Zn(II)-PAN. To eliminate the interference from Cu(II), thiourea, a suitable masking agent, was added to a solution containing the target ion (Co(II), Ni(II) or Zn(II)) in the presence of Cu(II). No color of Amberlite-PAN-Cu in the presence of thiourea was observed indicating that thiourea can be used as a masking agent for Cu(II). Therefore, Amberlite-PAN can detect Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) in the solution. To eliminate the interference from Ni(II), potassium chloride, a masking agent, was added to a solution containing the target ion (Zn(II)) in the presence of Ni(II). No color of Amberlite-PAN-Ni in the presence of potassium chloride was obsearved indicating that potassium chloride can be used as a masking agent for Ni(II). Consequently, Amberlite-PAN can detect Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) in the solution.

Amberlite-PAN can be used as a naked-eye solid sensor for Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) at least 10 weeks and Amberlite-PAN can be regenerated by 1 M nitric acid at least 4 times. The naked-eye determination of Cu(II), Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in water by using Amberlite coated with 0.5 mM PAN solution under the optimum conditions was achieved. The naked-eye determination of Co(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Cu(II) and naked-eye determination of Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) and maked-eye determination of Zn(II) in the presence of Ni(II) using Amberlite-PAN with masking agent (thiourea or potassium chloride) under the optimum conditions were accomplished.

Suggestions for future work

It is necessary to find out a suitable masking agent to eliminate the interference of Co(II). Since the naked-eye detection of Ni(II) and Zn(II) in the presence of Co(II) was unsuccessful due to the color of Co(II)-PAN interfering the colors of other complexes.
REFERENCES

- Wei, G.T.; Yang, Z.; and Chen, C.J. Room temperature ionic liquid as a novel medium for liquid/liquid extraction of metal ions. <u>Analytica Chimica</u> <u>Acta</u> 488 (2003): 183-192.
- [2] Mehmoud, M.E.; Osman, M.M.; and Amer, M.E. Selective pre-concentration and phase extraction of mercury(II) from natural water by silica gel loaded dithizone phases. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta</u> 415 (2000): 33-40.
- [3] Ferreira, S.L.C.; Brito, C.F.; Dantas, A.F.; Araujo N.M.L.; and Costa A.C.S. Nickel determination in saline matrices by ICP-AES after sorption on Amberlite XAD-2 loaded with PAN. <u>Talanta</u> 48 (1999): 1173-1177.
- [4] Taher M.A. Flame atomic absorption spectrometric determination of trace lead after solid-liquid extraction and preconcentration using 1-(2pyridylazo)-2-naphthol <u>Croatica Chemica Acta</u> 76 (2003): 273-277.
- [5] Arunkumar, E.; Chithra, P.; and Ajayaghosh, A. A controlled supramolecular approach toward cation-specific chemosensor: Alkaline earth metal ion-driven exciton signaling in squaraine tethered podands. <u>Journal of</u> <u>the American Chemical Society</u> 126 (2004): 6590-6598.
- [6] Gunnlaugsson, T.; Leonard, J.P.; and Murray N.S. Highly selective colorimetric naked-eye Cu(II) detection using an azobenzene chemosensor. Organic Letters 6 (2004): 1557-1560.
- [7] Murthy Y.L.N.; Govindh, B.; Biwakar, B.S.; Nagalakshmi, K.; and Singh, R. A simple inexpensive detection method of nickel in water using optical sensor. <u>International Journal of ChemTech Research</u> 3 (2011): 1285-1291.
- [8] Balaji, T.; Sasidharan, M.; and Matsunaga, M. Naked eye detection of cadmium using inorganic-organic hybrid mesoporous material. <u>Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry</u> 384 (2006): 488-494.
- [9] Cheng, K.L.; and Bray, R.H. 1-(2-Pyridylazo)-2-naphthol as a possible analytical reagent. <u>Analytical Chemistry</u> 27 (1955): 782-789.

- [10] Divrikli, U.; Akdogan, A.; Soylak, M.; and Elci, L. Solid-phase extraction of Fe(III), Pb(II) and Cr(III) in environmental samples on amberlite XAD-7 and their determinations by flame atomic absorption spectrometry. Journal of Hazardous Materials 149 (2007): 331-337.
- [11] Flemming C.A.; and Trevors, J.T. Copper toxicity and chemistry in the environment: a review. <u>Water, Air and Soil Pollution</u> 44 (1989): 143-158.
- [12] Simonsen, L.O.; Harbak, H.; and Bennekou, P. Cobalt metabolism and toxicology-A brief update. <u>Science of the Total Environment</u> 432 (2012): 210-215.
- [13] Das, K.K.; Das, S.N.; and Dhundasi, S.A. Nickel, its adverse health effects & oxidative stress. <u>Indian Journal of Medical Research</u> 128 (2008): 412-425.
- [14] Salgueíro, M.J.; Zubillaga, M.; Lysionek, A.; Sarabia, M.I.; Caro, R.; Paoli, T.D.; Hager, A.; Weill, R.; and Boccio, J. Zinc as an essential micro nutrient: a review. <u>Nutrition Research</u> 20 (2000): 737-755.
- [15] Water quality standard. [online] Available from: http://www.pcd.go.th/info_ serv/reg std water01.html [2011, September 20]
- [16] Miessler, G.L.; and Tarr D.A. Inorganic Chemistry. United States of America: Prentice-Hall, 1991.
- [17] Cai, H.H.; Wang, H.; Wang, J.; Wei, W.; Yang, P.H.; and Cai, J. Naked eye detection of glutathione in living cells using rhodamine Bfunctionalized gold nanoparticles coupled with FRET. <u>Dyes and</u> <u>Pigments</u> 92 (2011): 778-782.
- [18] Jamil, M.; Altaf, A.A.; Badshah, A.; Shafiqullah.; Ahmad, I.; Zubair, M.; Kemal, S.; and Ali, M.I. Naked eye DNA detection: synthesis, characterization and DNA binding studies of a novel azo-guanidine. <u>Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular</u> <u>Spectroscopy</u> 105 (2013): 165-170.

- [19] Vantasin, S.; Pienpinijtham, P.; Wongravee, K.; Thammacharoen, C.; and Ekgasit, S. Naked eye colorimetric quantification of protein content in milk using starch-stabilized gold nanoparticles. <u>Sensors and</u> <u>Actuators B: Chemical</u> 177 (2013): 131-137.
- [20] Suresh, P.; Azath, I.A.; and Pitchumani, K. Naked-eye detection of Fe³⁺ and Ru³⁺ in water: Colorimetric and ratiometric sensor based on per-6amino-β-cyclodextrin/p-nitrophenol. <u>Sensors and Actuators B:</u> <u>Chemical</u> 146 (2010): 273-277.
- [21] Ruan, Y.B.; Maisonneuve, S.; and Xie, J. Highly selective fluorescent and colorimetric sensor for Hg²⁺ based on triazole-linked NBD. <u>Dyes and</u> <u>Pigments</u> 90 (2011): 239-244.
- [22] Tavallali, H.; Rad, G.D.; Parhami, A.; and Abbasiyan, E. Colorimetric detection of copper and chloride in DMSO/H₂O media using bromopyrogallol red as a chemosensor with analytical applications. <u>Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular</u> <u>Spectroscopy</u> 97 (2012): 60-65.
- [23] Kumar, V.; Kaushik, M.P.; Srivastava, A.K.; Pratapa, A.; Thiruvenkatam, V.; and Row, T.N.G. Thiourea based novel chromogenic sensor for selective detection of fluoride and cyanide anions in organic and aqueous media. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta</u> 663 (2010): 77-84.
- [24] Prabhakaran, D.; Nanjo, H.; and Matsunaga, H. Naked eye sensor on polyvinyl chloride platform of chromo-ionophore molecular assemblies: A smart way for the colorimetric sensing of toxic metal ions. <u>Analytica Chimica</u> <u>Acta</u> 601 (2007): 108-117.
- [25] Lee, S.J.; Lee J.E.; Seo, J.; Jeong, I.Y.; Lee, S.S.; and Jung, J.H. Optical sensor based on nanomaterial for the selective detection of toxic metal ions. <u>Advanced Functional Materials</u> 17 (2007): 3441-3446.
- [26] Gil, C.D.; Caballero, A.; Ratera, I.; Tárraga, A.; Molina, P.; and Veciana, J. Naked-eye and selective detection of mercury(II) ions in mixed aqueous media using a cellulose-based support. <u>Sensors</u> 7 (2007): 3481-3488.

- [27] Matsunaga, H.; Kanno, C.; and Suzuki, T.M. Naked-eye detection of trace arsenic(V) in aqueous media using molybdenum-loaded chelating resin having β-hydroxypropyl-di(β-hydroxyethyl)amino moiety. <u>Talanta</u> 66 (2005): 1287-1293.
- [28] Huanga, W.; Li, Y.; Yang, Z.; Lin, H.; and Lin, H. A novel acetate selective chromogenic chemosensor based on phenanthroline. <u>Spectrochimica</u> <u>Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy</u> 79 (2011): 471-475.
- [29] Anjos, A.P.D.; Ponce, L.C.; Cadore, S.; and Baccan, N. Determination of manganese by flame atomic absorption spectrometry after its adsorption onto naphthalene modified with 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol (PAN). <u>Talanta</u> 71 (2007): 1252-1256.
- [30] Marczenko, Z. Separation and spectrophotometric determination of elements.
 2nd ed. England: Ellis Horwood limited, 1986.
- [31] Narin, I.; and Soylak, M. The uses of 1-(2-pyridylazo) 2-naphtol (PAN) impregnated Ambersorb 563 resin on the solid phase extraction of traces heavy metal ions and their determinations by atomic absorption spectrometry. <u>Talanta</u> 60 (2003): 215-221.
- [32] Manzoori, J.L.; Sorouradin, M.H.; and Shabani, A.M.H. Atomic absorption determination of cobalt after preconcentration by 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2naphthol immobilized on surfactant-coated alumina. <u>Microchemical</u> Journal 63 (1999): 295-301.
- [33] Giokas, D.L.; Paleologos, E.K.; Prodromidis, M.I.; and Karayannis, M.I. Development of 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol-modified polymeric membranes for the effective batch pre-concentration and determination of zinc traces with flame atomic absorption spectrometry. <u>Talanta</u> 56 (2002): 491-498.
- [34] Dean, J.A. Lange's handbook of chemistry. 13th ed. Singapore: McGraw-Hill, 1987.

- [35] Ponce, L.C.; Zamora, P.P.; and Bueno, M.I.M.S. Pre-concentration of rare earths using silica gel loaded with (2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol (PAN) and determination by energy dispersive X-ray fluorescence. <u>Talanta</u> 46 (1998): 1371-1378.
- [36] Tokalıoğlu, Ş.; Büyükbaş, H.; and Kartal, Ş. Preconcentration of trace elements by using 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol functionalized Amberlite XAD-1180 resin and their determination by FAAS. <u>Journal</u> <u>of the Brazilian Chemical Society</u> 17 (2006): 98-106.
- [37] Honeychurch, K.C.; Hart, J.P.; and Cowel, D.C. Voltammetric studies of lead at a 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol modified screen-printed carbon electrode and its trace determination in water by stripping voltammetry. <u>Analytica Chimica Acta</u> 431 (2001): 89-99.
- [38] Bahramifar, N.; and Yamini, Y. On-line preconcentration of some rare earth elements in water samples using C₁₈-cartridge modified with 1-(2pyridylazo) 2-naphtol (PAN) prior to simultaneous determination by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP–OES) Analytica Chimica Acta 540 (2005): 325-332.
- [39] Mohadesi, A.; Beitollahi, H.; and Karimi, M.K. Stripping voltammetric determination of Cd(II) based on multiwalled carbon nanotube functionalized with 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol <u>Chinese Chemical Letters</u> 22 (2011): 1469-1472.
- [40] Kongsung, R. <u>Naked-eye detection of lead(II) in aqueous solution by silica gel</u> <u>coated with 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol</u>. Master's thesis, Department of chemistry, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, 2010.
- [41] Juang, R.S.; Shiau, J.Y.; and Shao, H.J. Effect of temperature on equilibrium adsorption of phenols onto nonionic polymeric resins. <u>Separation</u> <u>Science and Technology</u> 34 (1999): 1819-1831.
- [42] Kumar, M.; Rathorea, D.P.S.; and Singh, A.K. Metal ion enrichment with Amberlite XAD-2 functionalized with Tiron: analytical applications. <u>Analyst</u> 125 (2000): 1221-1226.

- [43] Islam, A.; Laskar, M.A.; and Ahmad, A. The efficiency of Amberlite XAD-4 resin loaded with 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol in preconcentration and separation of some toxic metal ions by flame atomic absorption spectrometry. <u>Environmental Monitoring and Assessment</u> 175 (2011): 201-212.
- [44] Hosseini, M.S.; Bandegharaei, A.H.; Raissi, H.; and Belador, F. Sorption of Cr(VI) by Amberlite XAD-7 resin impregnated with brilliant green and its determination by quercetin as a selective spectrophotometric reagent. Journal of Hazardous Materials 169 (2009): 52-57.
- [45] Tewari, P.K.; and Singh, A.K. Amberlite XAD-7 impregnated with xylenol orange: a chelating collector for preconcentration of Cd(II), Co(II), Cu(II), Ni(II), Zn(II) and Fe(III) ions prior to their determination by flame AAS. <u>Fresenius Journal of Analytical Chemistry</u> 367 (2000): 562-567.
- [46] Navarro, R.; Saucedo, I.; Núñez, A.; Ávila, M.; and Guibal, E. Cadmium extraction from hydrochloric acid solutions using Amberlite XAD-7 impregnated with Cyanex 921(tri-octyl phosphine oxide). <u>Reactive and Functional Polymers</u> 68 (2008): 557-571.
- [47] Tharanitharan, V.; and Srinivasan, K. Removal of Pb(II) from aqueous solutions by using dioctyl sodium sulphosuccinate-EDTA modified Amberlite XAD-7HP resin. <u>Indian Journal of Chemical Technology</u> 16 (2009): 417-425.
- [48] Bandegharaei, A.H.; Hosseini, M.S.; Ghadi, M.S.; Zowghi, S.; Hosseini, E.; and Bandegharaei, H.H. Kinetics, equilibrium and thermodynamic study of Cr(VI) sorption into toluidine blue *o*-impregnated XAD-7 resin beads and its application for the treatment of wastewaters containing Cr(VI). <u>Chemical Engineering Journal</u> 160 (2010): 190-198.
- [49] Yang, L.; and Kruse, B. Revised Kubelka-Munk theory. I. Theory and application. <u>Journal of the Optical Society of America</u> 21 (2004): 1933-1941.

- [50] D'Ulivo, A.; Gianfranceschi, L.; Lampugnani, L.; and Zamboni, R. Masking agents in the determination of selenium by hydride generation technique. <u>Spectrochimica Acta Part B</u> 57 (2002): 2081-2094.
- [51] Bye, R.; Engvik, L.; and Lund, W. Thiourea as a complexing agent for reduction of copper interference in the determination of selenium by hydride generation/atomic absorption spectrometry. <u>Analytical</u> <u>Chemistry</u> 55 (1983): 2457-2458.

VITA

Miss Valentine Juasakul was born on February 14, 1988 in Nakhonratchasima, Thailand. She received her Bachelor degree of Science in Chemistry from Khon Kaen University in 2009. After that, she has been a graduate student at the Department of Chemistry Chulalongkorn University and become a member of Environmental Analysis Research Unit under supervision of Assistant Professor Dr. Wanlapa Aeungmaitrepirom. She finished her postgraduate study in the leading of the Master's degree of Science in 2012.